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DESCRIBE THE PRESENT AND ORIGINAL (IF KNOWN) PHYSICAL APPEARANCE
The Walnut Street Theatre built in 1910 is situated on the south side of Walnut Street
between Fourth and Fifth Streets in Louisville's downtown commercial district. The theatre
is close to the River City Pedestrian Mall, the Cathedral of the Assumption and the Seel-
bach Hotel, which will soon be undergoing restoration.

The structure has a Walnut Street frontage of 82 feet and extends southwardly from Walnut
148.5 feet to an alley.

The building is composed of brick with decorative ornament in stone and colored tile ot
polychromatic terracotta. The building is a three-story structure of eclectic style.
Classical and arts and crafts motifs are both present in the facade. The second and third
stories of the facade remain unaltered. These stories are unified by five bays, consisting
of stone arches which contain the windows on both floors. A large panel, with a lozenge
motif decorated in colored tiles or polychrome terracotta and carved stone, divides the
windows. The stone arches of the bay have a(tprinthian keystone. The wall area between
the bays are of terracotta colored brick. The large stone brackets of the cornice extend
into the wall area between the bays, terminating in a stone panel and cartouche of classical
detailing and richness. These brackets are the only decorative elements of the wall areas

between the arches. The treatment of the upper stories continues around each side of the
building for one bay.

The hip roof is now covered in shingles but was originally in red tile. The extended cornice
is embellished by a corbel table and is supported by the previously mentioned stone brackets.
Above each bay is a stone panel which is in the area of a frieze. The panels are treated

as individual and self-contained units and are divided from each other by the stone brackets
rather than running in a continuous frieze. The decoration of these panels is primarily
geometric in what is probably polychromatic terracotta. The panels, bordered in stone con-
sist of a central medallion of red terracotta with a green band and a white rosette in the
center. The side areas of the panels are rectangular bands with one concave side abutting
the center medallion. These areas are decorated in ivory terracotta squares with each
alternating square segment carrying a carved leaf form. One of the most striking features

of the upper stories of the building, when considering the original tile roof, is the rich
interplay of textures and colors.

The first floor is divided ‘from the upper stories by a plain stone string course. The

first floor has been converted into two store fronts and an entrance to an athletic club.
One store front has verticle yellow wood siding and pseudo-Georgian trim and the other has
green wood siding and cedar shakes. The lower facade of the adjoining Kentucky Tower Apart-
ments continues across the athletic club. All of these lower facade treatments are veneers
which could be easily removed. - e
The first floor of the Walnut Street Theatre is limestone which appears to have been
painted in at least some areas in recent years. Originally this story consisted of five
archways which corresponded to the five bays of the upper stories. The piers of the arches
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The Walnut Street Theatre is an important architectural element in the early twentieth
century development of downtown Louisville. The building also may be one of the early
vaudeville houses of the famous theatre designer John Eberson. The shifts in use of the
theatre from vaudeyille, to legitimate stage, to film characterizes the evolution in enter-
tainment media which the American public patronized through this century.

The Walnut Street Theatre opened on August 29, 1910 as a vaudeville house. The Courier-
Journal of August 30, 1910 called it '"the latest edition to Louisville's handsome play-
houses is a model in every respect." The Walnut Street Theatre changed hands several times
after vaudeville became less popular. Fgp one year in 1930 it is listed as the Ritz Theatre.
The theatre was changed in 1933 to the Drury Lane, which offered both quality road shows

and amateur stage production. Some interior redecoration was to have been done at that time.
The canopy was replaced by a more standard marquis, which covered only the central arch.

In 1942, the Drury Lane became the Scoop Theatre. The Scoop Theatre, originally, showed
only newsreels, There were only five such theatres which had this format in the country,

A broadcasting studio was set up in one of the store areas of the building, which broadcast
news into the theatre, A local cameraman was hired which allowed local events also to be
shown. This was the first studio of its type in the United States. The theatre interior
was also remodeled at this time. The marquis was '"updated", with the addition of a large
globe. The Scoop was extremely popular during the war but had to turn to showing classic
films in the late 1940s. 1In 1952, the building was purchased by the Brown Hotel Corpora-
tion and used as a conyention center and storage areas.

The attribution of an architect of the Walnut Street Theatre poses some problems at this
time. An article in the Courier-Journal of May 2, 1909 reports the initial organization
of the Walnut Street Land Company and the plans for the theatre. The Louisville archi-
tectural firm of McDonald and Dodd are mentioned as having "submitted plans for the new
play house and bids for its construction will be opened June 23."

Kenneth McDonald and William J. Dodd were well known regional architects and many of
Louisville's most respected turn of the century buildings were their design. McDonald
(1852-1940) was active in Louisville from about 1878-1914. He was a partner in the firm
of McDonald Bros (1887-1901) and also in partnership with J. F. Sheblessy before working
with Dodd in the firm McDonald and Dodd (1908-1914) . William J. Dodd received his early
training in Chicago. He also had several partners in Louisville including 0. C. Welhe and
Mason Maury (1889-1896). McDonald and Dodd designed the Temple Adath Israel in 1905-1906
(National Register 1974), the YMCA building in 1913 (National Register 1977) and Western
Colored Branch Library 1908 (National Register 1975). (For a more detailed account of -
McDonald and Dodd see National Register form for Western Colored Branch Library.) ’
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are vertically in line with the brackets of the cornice. Stores were incorporated into
the original plan, with the central arch serving as the entrance to the theatre. A band
of incised stone work was the main decorative motif around the arches. Originally a very
graceful canopy extended across the lower facade just below the string course. The
canopy also consisted of five arching elements. At the adjoining point of each arch was
a cartouche of matching design to the ones under the brackets on the upper story. The
upper edge of the canopy was decorated by a pearl mold adding to the lightness and
delicacy of the design. This is no longer extant.

Nothing of note is left of the original interial decor which from contemporary descrip-
tion was a most stunning combination of marble, mahogany and hundreds of electric lights.
The lobby was originally 15 feet wide and 43 feet long. The main auditorium was decorated
in buff and gold with mahogany seats. The balcony was carried by two twelve foot girders
which eliminated the need of columns on the floor. The theatre seated 1200 persons.

It was reportedly fireproof being constructed of reinforced concrete and steel.
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The day after the opening of the theatre the Courier-Journal (August 30, 1910)reported
on the event. An interior description of the building was given as well as a review of
the acts. A banquet was held after the opening performance at the Rathskellar Room of
the Seelbach Hotel. (National Register 1975) and all persons who were connected with
the theatre were in attendence. This included the investors from both Louisville and
Hamilton, Ohio. No mention is made,however,of McDonald and Dodd but rather several
references are made to John Eberson. The article states, "John Eberson of Hamilton,
who designed the theatre, was the recipient of many compliments on the attractiveness
of the building.'" Mention is also made of a "switchboard designed by John Eberson.
From there all of the lights of the house are controlled as is all the fire proof
scenery, which is hoisted, lowered and shifted by a patented electrical apparatus-"

John Eberson (1875-1954) came to the United States from Rumania in 1901. He had
received some formal training in technical engineering in Vienna but no architectural
experience. He operated an electrical supply and contracting shop in St. Louis. 1In
this capacity he met George Johnson, a St. Louis contractor-architect and a scenic
designer and theatre promoter. With Johnson, Eberson became involved in theatre design
and construction. In 1908 he opened an architectural office in Hamilton, Chio. He
designed a large number of vaudeville theatres across the Midwest and South and became
known as "Opera House John," Though Eberson designed commercial buildings and over
500 theatres,he is best known for his atmospheric theatres of the 1920s. The Majestic
Theatre of Houston,, 19233 the Avalon Theatres of Chicago, 1927;and the Lowe's Theatre
of Louisville, of H§ 8, (nominated to :the National Register), are just a few examples
of his atmospherics.” “Unfortunately, little has been recorded about his vaudeville
houses.

Three persons from Hamilton, Ohio figured prominently in the formation of the Walnut
Street Theatre. O. M. Bake and Ben Straus were on the Board of Directors and Thomas
Ward, the general manager of the theatre, were all of Hamilton. John E. McCarthy of
Hamilton, Ohio was also at the opening night's celebration. Mr. McCarthy was president
of the National Vaudeville Association. Possibly these persons could have been respon-
sible for bringing John Eberson into the theatre project after the initial announcement
of the plans submitted by McDonald and Dodd. The original announcement called for the
theatre to be built in six months but it actually was completed in sixteen months. The
inclusion of another party into the architectural design could have possible caused

the delays. The interior of the theatre must have surely been Eberson's in concept.
The marble and mahogany set off by hundreds of electric lights is highly theatrical in
its effect and relates to his later theatres in the novelty of its treatment. The
sophisticated electrial switchboard and electrical scenery apparatus are clearly
Eberson's devises by the newspaper's account. Unfortunately nothing is left of the
theatre's interior.
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The possibility remains that Eberson did only the interior of the building and McDonald
and Dodd executed the exterior design. The use of geometric decoration combined with
classical elements is by no means inconsistent with their work of this period. The YMCA
building of 1913 is characteristic of McDonald and Dodd's work in this vein. The

Walnut Street Theatre is not listed among McDonald and Dodd's known works.

It seems most likely that Eberson designed the entire building which would have been
consisted with his later working habits. The inclusion of shops in the theatre build-
ing is a practice he followed in his later theatres. The upper floors of the Walnut
Street Theatre contained apartments. In Eberson's later theatres entire office towers
were constructed over the theatre to take maximum advantage of expensive central city
land. If the theatre is accepted as an early Eberson vaudeville theatre its architec-
tural sigificance becomes of the upmost importance due to the lack of information about
his work of this period.

The structure is important not only as an early design by John Eberson, a noted theatre
architect but is important in the development of the downtown area of Louisville in the
early twentieth century. The area near 4th and Walnut exhibits many structures from the
early twentieth century. Thus the Walnut Street Theatre is an important building both
architecturally and historically in the development of the City of Louisville.
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ADDENDUM

The Walnut Street Theatre was built in 1910 and is believed to have been designed by John
Eberson, archtiect of numerous vaudeville theatres in the South and Midwest. The building
remains a significant structure in the downtown area and reflects the architectural
development of the city's business and commercial section in the early twentieth century.
Today, the theatre remains in close proximity to the Cathedral of the Assumption and

the Seelbach Hotel, both of which are listed on the National Register.

Although altered several times since its construction, the theatre facade still possesses a
substantial degree of its original fabric and architectural integrity. Based on information
currently available, it would appear that the siding, wood shakes, and the pseudo-Georgian
entrance have merely been appended to the five-bay, limestone facade of the first floor.
Thus it would be possible to remove these modern attachments and reveal the first floor in
its original state. Although plans have not yet been finalized, owners of a downtown
cafeteria have recently expressed an interest in renovating the first floor for use as a
restaurant and restoring the facade to its original appearance.

None of the original interior decor remains with the exception of the theatre ceiling which is
now covered by modern acoustical boards. However, the elaborately designed ceiling
adorned with plaster relief lion heads is preserved behind the newer ceiling.

Both the second and third floors are currently occupied, one by an athletic club and the
other as office space. These upper floors were never designed to be associated with the
theatre but, instead, were to serve as apartments. Consequently, although altered, most
of the building space remains in use with plans to again utilize the first floor and return
the facade to its original condition.
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420 West Walnut

Louisville, Jefferson, Kentucky
Sanborn Map Co. (1972)
Philadelphia, Pennsylvania

Map 1. Sanborn Map.
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Walnut Street Theatre

420 West Walnut

Louisville, Jefferson, Kentucky
Real Estate Atlas

Jefferson County, Kentucky (1968)
Miami, Florida
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